FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 11/9/2017 12:33 PM

NO. 49242-3-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

SARAH JEAN SEWARES,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

John A. Hays, No. 16654 Attorney for Appellant

1402 Broadway Suite 103 Longview, WA 98632 (360) 423-3084

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Sarah Jean Sewares asks this court to accept review of the decision designated in Part B of this motion.

B. DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of each and every part of the decision of the Court of Appeals affirming the Lewis County Superior Court judgment and sentence. A copy of the Court of Appeals decision is attached.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Does an unknown female's presence with a man a reliable informant claims is on his way to deliver heroin constitute a basis to perform a *Terry* stop on that female when the police do not suspect that she is carrying the alleged heroin and when the informant did not provide a basis of knowledge to support his claim of illegal conduct?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In December of 2015, Centralia Detective Adam Haggerty received information from a confidential informant that a person by the name of Christopher Neff would be traveling from the Puget Sound area in his silvergray Series 5 BMW to the Motel Six on Belmont Avenue in Centralia to deliver multiple ounces of heroin to a local buyer who had rented room 254. RP 4-7¹. The informant provided Detective Haggerty with a physical

¹"RP" refers to the transcript of the suppression motion held on 6/22/16 in this case. "RP 7/13/16" refers to the stipulated facts trial held on date indicated and "RP 7/27/16" refers to the sentencing hearing held on the date indicated.

description for Mr. Neff that matched police records the detective was able to review. RP 6-7. According to Detective Haggerty the informant had been working with state and federal police agencies for about two months in order to obtain the dismissal of his own charges and he had provided reliable information that aided in the arrest of other drug dealers and the seizure of relatively large amounts of illegal drugs. RP 4-6. As a result, Detective Haggerty believed the informant reliable even though the informant had not yet participated in any controlled buys of narcotics. RP 18. While Detective Haggerty believed the informant reliable, he did not say anything about how the informant came by his claimed information concerning Mr. Neff and his alleged illegal activities. RP 4-38.

Based upon the informant's claims, Detective Haggerty and a number of other officers set up surveillance at the Motel Six on December 23, 2015. RP 8-9. While stationed in the area the officers watched a white Cadillac DeVille drive into the Motel Six parking lot near room 254 after having picked up food from a local drive-through restaurant. *Id.* A female the officers did not know was driving the car. *Id.* The officers later identified her as Jasmine Hammond. RP 11-12. Mr. Neff was one of the passengers, as was the defendant Sarah Sewares, who was unknown to the officers at the time. RP 8-9. Once Ms Hammond parked the vehicle she, Mr. Neff and

the defendant got out and walked toward room 254. *Id*. Ms Hammond was carrying a black back pack that the officers thought might have the suspected heroin in it. RP 9. The defendant was carrying a purse. RP 42-43. No officer claimed to believe that the purse contained any heroin. RP 4-68.

As Ms Hammond, Mr. Neff and the defendant walked toward room 254

Detective Haggerty and a number of officers surrounded the trio with guns
drawn and ordered them to stop. RP 10, 41-43. The officers then put each
of the three in handcuffs while taking the back pack from Ms Hammond.

Id. At this point the officers obtained permission from Ms Hammond to
search the backpack. RP 11-12. Inside they found multiple ounces of
heroin, methamphetamine, scales and other paraphernalia. Id. Other
officers then asked the defendant if she had any drugs or weapons. RP 4243. According to the officers the defendant responded that she had some
methamphetamine in her purse. Id. With her permission the officers
searched her purse, found the methamphetamine, and then placed her
under arrest. Id.

After her arrest, the Lewis County Prosecutor charged the defendant with one count of possession of the methamphetamine the officers found in her purse. CP 1-2. The defendant responded with a motion to suppress

that evidence, arguing that (1) the officers had violated her rights under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 7, and United States Constitution, Fourth Amendment, when they detained her without a reasonable basis to believe that she was involved in criminal conduct; and (2) the officers exceeded the scope of a valid *Terry* stop when they questioned her. CP 19-27. The court later held a hearing on that motion during which the state called Officer Haggerty along with two other officers as its only witnesses. RP 1-67; CP 28-29. Following their testimony and argument by counsel the court denied the motion, later entering the following findings of fact and conclusions of law:

FINDINGS OF FACT

- 1.1 On December 23, 2015, Detective Adam Haggerty, Detective Chad Withrow, and Special Agent Hernan Rios were working in their capacity as law enforcement officers in Centralia, Washington.
- 1.2 Detective Haggerty was contacted by a confidential informant about Christopher Neff arriving in Centralia on December 23, 2015 to deliver a large quantity of heroin to a specific hotel room at the Motel 6.
- 1.3 This confidential informant had previously provided law enforcement with information related to narcotics distribution in the months prior to December 23, 2015, that had been corroborated through police investigation.
- 1.4 This confidential informants had also worked with federal authorities in other jurisdictions that led to the arrest of multiple individuals and the seizure of several pounds of cocaine.

- 1.5 This confidential informant provided law enforcement with a firearm that they claimed was involved in an unrelated offense.
- 1.6 This confidential informant was acting as an informant in consideration for pending criminal charges at the time the information about Neff was given to Detective Haggerty
- 1.7 This confidential informant also provided information about the location of Neff just prior to his arriving at the Motel 6 that was verified by observations of law enforcement, namely being at Arby's within minutes of his arrival.
- 1.8 Neff exited a vehicle with two female companions, Jasmine Hammond and Sarah Sewares, and all went to the hotel room the confidential informant told law enforcement Neff would be going to.
- 1.9 When she exited the vehicle, Hammond was in possession of a backpack that was not physically unique or specifically delineated as belonging to any one person.
- 1.10 Neff, Hammond, and Sewares were contacted by law enforcement outside the hotel room the confidential informant indicated Neff would be going to.
- 1.11 Hammond and Sewares were perceived as accomplices to Neff at the time of their initial contact by law enforcement.
- 1.12 While all persons were detained in handcuffs outside the hotel room, nobody was placed under arrest when initially contacted by law enforcement.
- 1.13 Sewares was in possession of a purse at the time she was detained.
- 1.14 Detective Withrow contacted Sewares and asked if she was in possession of any controlled substances.
 - 1.15 Sewares stated that there was methamphetamine in her

purse.

- 1.16 Detective Withrow asked for consent to remove the methamphetamine from her purse, which was granted.
- 1.17 Sewares's purse was open when Detective Withrow contacted her.
- 1.18 Detective Withrow was able to see inside the purse without manipulating it and saw a topless pill bottle containing a large piece of what he recognized as methamphetamine.
- 1.19 When asked, Sewares stated the crystalline substance in the pill bottle was methamphetamine.
- 1.20 Sewares granted consent a second time for Detective Withrow to remove the methamphetamine.
- 1.21 Sewares was advised of Miranda warnings at this point by Detective Withrow.
- 1.22 Sewares again admitted to possessing the methamphetamine located in her purse.
- 1.23 Sewares was transported to a nearby police facility and asked about her involvement with Neff in this case.
- 1.24 Sewares provided details of what she knew about his case to Detective Withrow.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

- 2.1 The detention of all persons was lawful.
- 2.2 Sewares's detention was a lawful Terry stop.
- 2.3 The confidential informant in this case is credible and reliable.
 - 2.4 A reasonable basis existed to contact and detain

Hammond and Sewares about their involvement in this case.

2.5 Statement made by Sewares to Detective Withrow do not violate the Miranda rule.

CP 33-35.

The defendant later submitted to conviction upon stipulated facts and received a standard range sentence. CP 36, 37-40, 41, 44-52. She then filed a timely appeal arguing, *inter alia*, that the trial court erred when it denied her suppression motion because the police detained her without a reasonably articulable suspicion based upon objective facts that she was engaged in criminal conduct. CP 53-62; *See also* Brief of Appellant.

By unpublished decision filed October 17, 2017, the Court of Appeals, Division II rejected the defendant's arguments and affirmed her conviction. *See* Decision attached. By order filed November 2, 2017, the same court denied the defendant's Motion to Publish. *See* Order attached. The defendant now respectfully requests that this court accept review, reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals, and remand to the trial court with instructions to grant the defendant's motion to suppress.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The case at bar presents this court with two separate bases for review: (1) under RAP 13.4(b)(1) the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with this court's decision in *State v. Z.U.E.*, 183 Wn.2d 610, 352 P.3d

796 (2015), and (2) under RAP 13.4(b)(3), this case presents a significant question of law under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 7. The following sets out these arguments. Under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 7, and United States Constitution, Fourth Amendment, warrantless searches are *per se* unreasonable and as such, the courts of this state will suppress the evidence seized unless the prosecution meets it burden of proving that the search falls within one of the various "jealously and carefully drawn" exceptions to the warrant requirement. R. Utter, *Survey of Washington Search and Seizure Law: 1988 Update*, 11 U.P.S. Law Review 411, 529 (1988); *Welsh v. Wisconsin*, 466 U.S. 740, 749, 104 S.Ct. 2091, 80 L.Ed.2d 732 (1984).