FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/21/2018 11:00 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

No. 95211-6

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 49242-3-II)

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

VS.

SARAH J. SEWARES,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

On review from the Court of Appeals, Division Two, And the Superior Court of Lewis County

JONATHAN MEYER
Lewis County Prosecuting Attorney

By:

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA No. 43759

Lewis County Prosecutor's Office 345 W. Main Street, 2nd Floor Chehalis, WA 98532-1900 (360) 740-1240

B. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE ISSUES:

- Is the decision of the Court of Appeals in conflict with this Court's decision in State v. Z.U.E., 183 Wn.2d 610, 352 P.3d 796 (2015)?
- 2. Does Sewares's case involve a significant question of law under the Constitutions of the State of Washington or United States?

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The substantive facts of Sewares's case can be found in the unpublished Court of Appeals decision, attached for the Court's convenience as Appendix A.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED

The State respectfully requests this Court decline review of the decision of the Court of Appeals because the decision is well-supported by the trial record and applicable law and none of the RAP 13.4(b) considerations governing acceptance of review have been met in this case. The decision of the Court of Appeals in this case, which involved reasonable suspicion based in part on information provided by a confidential informant, is not in conflict with this Court's

decision in *State v. Z.U.E.*, 183 Wn.2d 610, 352 P.3d 796 (2015), which involved reasonable suspicion based on a series of relatively unknown 911 callers. Sewares's case does not present a significant question under the Constitution of the United States or the Washington State Constitution.

1. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH THIS COURT'S DECISION IN Z.U.E.

This Court may accept review of a Court of Appeals decision if it is in conflict with a decision of this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1). Contrary to Sewares's arguments, the Court of Appeals decision is entirely consistent with previous case law, including this Court's decision in *Z.U.E.*

In *Z.U.E.*, officers received a series of 911 calls reporting seeing a shirtless man carrying a gun. 183 Wn.2d at 613-14. A number of the callers observed the man enter a vehicle with eight other people. *Id.* at 614. One witness identifying herself by first name reported witnessing what she believed looked like a 17-year-old female handing a gun off to a shirtless man, who then carried the gun through the park. *Id.* The officers had little information regarding the identities of any of the 911 callers. *Id.*

A block away from the park, the officers observed two women, one matching the description of the purported 17-year-old. *Id.* at 614-

15. The officers later observed the women enter a vehicle near the park which did not match the vehicle described by the callers. *Id.*None of the occupants matched the description of the shirtless man. *Id.* at 615. The officers conducted a "felony stop" of the vehicle's occupants and ultimately arrested and stun-gunned Z.U.E. for obstruction of law enforcement. *Id.* at 616. In a search incident to arrest, officers found marijuana on Z.U.E.'s person. *Id.* The officers never located the bald, shirtless subject. *Id.*

The Court found insufficient facts to support a reasonable suspicion the bald, shirtless subject was in the car. *Id.* at 622. The Court also found the police could not justify a stop to investigate the crime of minor in possession of a firearm. *Id.* at 622-23. The Court stated although there was little reason to doubt the veracity of the 911 caller, there was no factual basis for establishing how the caller knew or believed the reported female was a 17-year-old rather than an adult who could legally possess a firearm. *Id.* at 623. Without knowing anything about the caller other than a first name, the officers had no basis on which to evaluate the accuracy of her estimation. *Id.*

Here, unlike in *Z.U.E.*, the confidential informant was a known person to the officers and had an established track record of providing information that led to drug seizures and arrests. RP

(6/22/16) 6, 22-23. The informant was also working with law enforcement to gain a benefit regarding his own criminal charges. RP (6/22/16) 5-6. This suggests the informant had a strong incentive to provide accurate information. *State v. Bean*, 89 Wn.2d 467, 469-71, 572 P.2d 1102 (1978).

Further, the informant's information was borne out by multiple factors. The informant reported Neff would be arriving at the Motel 6 by car and later reported that Neff was seen at the nearby Arby's. RP (6/22/16) 97-98. This was corroborated by one officer observing a vehicle use the Arby's drive thru and enter the Motel 6 parking lot. RP (6/22/16) 98. The information was further corroborated when officers identified Neff as the man exiting the vehicle carrying an Arby's bag. RP (6/22/16) 98. The information was corroborated further when officers observed all three people walk to the specific room that had been selected as the meeting location. RP (6/22/16) 98. These facts, along with the presence of the backpack, gave the officers reasonable suspicion the trio was carrying out a plan to deliver heroin. RP (6/22/16) 98-99.

The detention of Sewares was also reasonable. Sewares was not merely present at the scene. RP (6/22/16) 101. Sewares got out of the same car with Neff and the woman with the backpack and

walked with them to the designated motel room door arranged with the informant. RP (6/22/16) 101. This gave the officers reasonable suspicion to believe Sewares was involved in the plan to deliver heroin. RP (6/22/16) 94.

The information the officers had was provided by a reliable confidential informant and was corroborated by observations made by the officers during the investigation. The Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with this Court's decision in *Z.U.E.*

2. SEWARES'S CASE DOES NOT PRESENT A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF CONSTITUTIONAL LAW.

This Court may accept review of a Court of Appeals decision if it involves a significant question of law under either the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States Constitution. RAP 13.4(b)(3).

The Court of Appeals correctly decided Sewares's direct appeal. Sewares raises one issue for discretionary review: she asks this Court to review whether there was reasonable suspicion to justify a *Terry*¹ stop of Sewares.

This Court only accepts review if a case meets the following standards:

¹ Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 20 L.Ed.2d 889, 88 S.Ct. 1868 (1968).

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b). Sewares's case meets none of these criteria.

The Court of Appeals applied the correct standard in holding the officers had a well-founded suspicion to stop Sewares as a perceived accomplice, finding the confidential informant was reliable and his information was corroborated by the officers' observations. Appendix A. There is no significant question of law under the constitutions of the State of Washington or of the United States that results from the Court of Appeals decision on this issue.

//

//

//

//

//

//

E. CONCLUSION

The State respectfully requests this Court not accept review on the issue Sewares raises in her petition for review. If this Court were to accept review, the State would respectfully request an opportunity to submit supplemental briefing.